No. 71164-4-I

# THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

SHACON F. BARBEE,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

SARAH M. HROBSKY Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

#

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Mr. Barbee's convictions for two counts of promoting commercial sexual abuse of a minor, involving the same minor over a one-year period, violated the prohibition against double jeopardy where the temporal division of the charging period was arbitrary and the two counts encompassed a single unit of prosecution.
- 2. Mr. Barbee's convictions for two counts of promoting prostitution involving two women over the same period of time and under the same circumstances violated the prohibition against double jeopardy where the two counts encompassed a single unit of prosecution.
- 3. Mr. Barbee's convictions for two counts of theft in the first degree from the same governmental institution violated the prohibition against double jeopardy where the temporal division of the charging periods was arbitrarily based on a statutory increase in the monetary threshold for the offense from \$1500 to \$5000 and when the two counts encompassed a single unit of prosecution.
- 4. Mr. Barbee's convictions for two counts of promoting prostitution violated the prohibition against double jeopardy when the counts merged into the count of leading organized crime by promoting prostitution.

- 5. The trial court erred in denying Mr. Barbee's motion to sever the three counts of theft from the seven counts related to sexual abuse of a minor and prostitution, and thereby allowed admission of confusing and highly prejudicial evidence that was not cross-admissible.
- 6. The trial court erred in admitting out-of-court statements by S.E., the alleged victim of commercial sexual abuse of a minor, and statements by C.W. and B.K., victims of promoting prostitution, as statements by co-conspirators to the offense of leading organized crime, pursuant to ER 801(d)(2)(v).
- 7. The trial court erred in admitting the fruits of a warrantless search of a motel registry, and in entering Conclusion of Law 4(f) (Sutton Suites Incident): "The deputies' subsequent accessing of the motel registry was lawful under *Jorden* and *Nichols* because the deputies had individualized suspicion of prostitution or promoting prostitution going on in the room."
- 8. The trial court erroneously imposed an exceptional sentence on Counts 1 and 2 based on an incorrect calculation of the standard range.

#### B. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

 The double jeopardy clauses of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, section 9 of the Washington Constitution prohibit multiple convictions based on a single unit of prosecution. The unit of prosecution for promoting commercial sexual abuse of a minor in an on-going enterprise is the advancing and profiting from the commercial sexual abuse of one or more minors. Mr. Barbee was charged with two counts of promoting commercial sexual abuse of a minor involving the same minor, one count spanning the first eight months of 2010, and another count spanning the last four months of 2010. Did the artificial division of the offense into two counts based on arbitrary charging periods violate the prohibition against double jeopardy?

- 2. The double jeopardy clauses of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, section 9 of the Washington Constitution prohibit multiple convictions based on a single unit of prosecution. The unit of prosecution for promoting prostitution in an ongoing enterprise is the advancing and profiting from the prostitution of other persons, regardless of the number of persons engaged in prostitution. Mr. Barbee was charged with two counts of promoting prostitution involving two women in an on-going enterprise. Did the artificial division of the offense into two counts based on two victims of the same enterprise violate the prohibition against double jeopardy?
- 3. The double jeopardy clauses of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, section 9 of the Washington Constitution prohibit multiple convictions based on a single unit of

prosecution. The unit of prosecution for theft by a series of transactions that constitute a common plan or scheme is the aggregate value of the misappropriated goods or services. Effective August 31, 2009, the monetary threshold for theft in the first degree was increased from \$1500 to \$5000. Mr. Barbee was charged with two counts of theft in the first degree from the Social Security Administration, one count spanning a 20-month period of time prior to the increase in the threshold, and the other count spanning a 14-month period of time following the increase. Did the artificial division of the on-going scheme into two counts based on arbitrary charging periods violate the prohibition against double jeopardy?

- 4. The double jeopardy clauses of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, section 9 of the Washington Constitution protect an individual from multiple punishments for the same offense. Where proof of promoting prostitution was necessary to prove leading organized crime predicated on promoting prostitution, as charged, did Mr. Barbee's convictions for promoting prostitution and leading organized crime violate the double jeopardy provisions of the federal and state constitutions?
- 5. A defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial and CrR 4.4 require severance of counts when necessary to promote a fair determination of the guilt or innocence of a defendant. Did the trial court

err when it denied his motion to sever three counts of theft from seven counts relating to commercial sexual abuse of a minor and promoting prostitution, and thereby allowed admission of highly prejudicial evidence that was not cross-admissible?

6. ER 801(d)(2)(v) provides out-of-court statements by a party-opponent are not hearsay when the statements were made by a co-conspirator during the course of and furtherance of the conspiracy.

However, a person is a co-conspirator to a crime only if he or she agrees to engage in or cause conduct that constitutes the crime. Did the trial court err when it admitted out-of-court statements by a juvenile and two women who acted a prostitutes as non-hearsay statements by co-conspirators to the crime of leading organized crime when they did not agree to engage in or cause conduct that constituted leading organized crime and they were victims of the offense of promoting sexual commercial sexual abuse of a minor and promoting prostitution, respectively?

7. A warrantless search of private affairs is per se unreasonable under Article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution, absent specific carefully delineated exigent circumstances. In *State v. Jorden*, our supreme court ruled motel registries are private affairs. Nonetheless,

<sup>1 160</sup> Wn.2d 121, 156 P.3d 893 (2007).

several years later in *In re Pers. Restraint of Nichols*,<sup>2</sup> the Court ruled officers may conduct warrantless searches of motel registries where they have individualized suspicion a particular guest is engaged in criminal activity. Relying on *Nichols*, the trial court admitted evidence obtained pursuant to a warrantless search of a motel registry that identified Mr. Barbee as a registered guest at a motel room where the officers had reasonable suspicion to believe the room was being used for prostitution. Insofar as the majority opinion in *Nichols* is contrary to Article I, section 7, did the trial court err in admitting the evidence obtained from the registry?

8. Due process requires a court to impose a sentence according to the law in effect at the time the offense was committed. Where the penalty for an offense is increased during the alleged charging period, and the evidence indicates the offense was committed before the increase went into effect, the court must impose the lesser penalty. Prior to June 10, 2010, commercial sexual abuse of a minor was classified as a B felony with a seriousness level of VIII. Effective June 10, 2010, commercial sexual abuse of a minor was classified as an A felony with a seriousness level of XII. Where Mr. Barbee was charged with promoting commercial sexual abuse of a minor from January 1, 2010 through December 31,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 171 Wn.2d 370, 256 P.3d 1131 (2011).

2010,<sup>3</sup> but he was sentenced under the increased penalty, must his sentence be reversed as in violation of his right to due process?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Shacon F. Barbee befriended S.E. when she was thirteen years old and working as a prostitute. 8/27/13RP 9. In February 2010, after S.E. turned sixteen, she agreed to work as a prostitute for Mr. Barbee. 8/27/13RP 23. Mr. Barbee also asked S.E. to recruit girls or women to work as prostitutes for him. 8/29/13RP 29.

In early March 2010, S.E. recruited Brittany Klein. S.E. invited Ms. Klein to a motel room at the Sutton Suites, SeaTac, Washington, where she explained how to work as a prostitute and she introduced Ms. Klein to Mr. Barbee. 8/22/13 RP 105, 107-08, 109-10, 111-12, 113. Mr. Barbee stated that he would collect the money Ms. Klein earned and he would take care of her. 8/22/13RP 114. Mr. Barbee gave her a pre-paid cellular telephone, chose an alias for her, chose photographs of her taken by S.E. to post at on-line advertising sites, especially Backpage.com, and coached her on talking to potential customers. 8/22/13RP 114, 120, 122-23, 135. Together with S.E., Ms. Klein worked out of the motel room for several days and then she worked on "the track," a term for a street where

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Barbee contends Counts 1 and Counts 2 constitute a single unit of prosecution. See (D)(1)(a)(i), infra.

women working as prostitutes attempt to attract customers. 8/15/13RP 17; 8/22/13RP 118.

On March 10, 2010, Ms. Klein was arrested for prostitution and Mr. Barbee bailed her out of jail. 8/19/13RP 90, 95-97, 117-18, 122-24, 140-41; 8/22/13RP 129, 131. Ms. Klein allowed the arresting officer, Detective Brian Lewis, to look through her cellular telephone and he located a telephone number associated with Mr. Barbee. 8/19/13RP 126-26.

On March 25, 2010, police officers were dispatched to the Sutton Suites to investigate suspected prostitution based an unusually high number of unregistered people coming and going from a specific room. 8/19/13RP 9-10. Officers entered the room, and observed S.E. and Ms. Klein provocatively dressed, as well as sex toys, condoms, several pairs of high-heeled shoes, lingerie, several computers, a camera, and several cellular telephones. 8/15/13RP 87; 8/19/13RP 16, 17, 70. The officers obtained a search warrant for the room but they searched the motel registry without a warrant and learned the room was registered to Mr. Barbee. 8/19/13RP 52, 69-70; CP 130-34; Ex. 26, 52. Following her arrest, Ms. Klein stopped working for Mr. Barbee until the fall of 2010. 8/22/13RP 154.

In May 2010, S.E. recruited Cassandra Waller. 8/20/13RP 19. As with Ms. Klein, S.E. invited Ms. Waller to a motel room, this time at the Motel 6, Tukwila, Washington, where she again explained how to work as a prostitute and she introduced Ms. Waller to Mr. Barbee. 8/20/13RP 27, 30. Mr. Barbee provided her with a cellular telephone, and he brought lingerie to the motel room, took photographs of her wearing the lingerie to be posted on Backpage.com. 8/20/13RP 50-51, 55. The Backpage.com posts included a written description of her services that was composed by S.E. 8/20/13RP 65. Ms. Waller gave any money she earned to S.E. who, in turn, gave the money to Mr. Barbee. 8/20/13RP 36-37. After several weeks, Ms. Waller realized she would never be able to keep the money she earned so, in early June 2010, she left the motel and she never again saw Mr. Barbee or S.E. 8/20/13RP 115; 8/21/13RP 30, 35.

S.E. frequently argued with Mr. Barbee and she regularly returned to her mother's home for various periods of time until Mr. Barbee coaxed her back. 8/27/13RP 23-24. In the fall of 2010, S.E. left the state to visit friends on the east coast, but she remained in contact with Mr. Barbee. 8/27/13RP 24, 80, 110, 114-16. While S.E. was out-of-town, Mr. Barbee contacted Ms. Klein and coaxed her back to working for him. 8/22/13RP 155-56. She stayed at Mr. Barbee's apartment and worked "the track" for

several weeks before she left permanently. 8/22/13RP 158, 160, 167; 8/26/13RP 41, 53, 62.

In November, 2010, at S.E.'s request, Mr. Barbee sent her \$250 to buy a return airplane ticket. 8/27/13RP 118. When she returned, Mr. Barbee demanded she repay the money. 8/27/13RP 119. Accordingly, S.E. agreed to continue working for him as a prostitute until she could repay him. 8/27/13RP 126.

On December 3, 1020, Detective Eric Steffes organized an undercover "sting" operation at the Hampton Inn, Kent, Washington, focused on prostitution. 8/29/13RP 113-14. An undercover officer, Detective Jeremiah Johnson, was assigned to pose as a customer in a hotel room, Det. Steffes and two other officers conducted surveillance from unmarked patrol cars in the hotel parking lot, and an arrest team of two uniform officers in marked cars waited near the parking lot. 8/29/13RP 113-16. Det. Johnson responded to a Backpage.com advertisement placed by S.E. and arranged for her to come to his room at the Hampton Inn. 8/28/13RP 121, 122, 124; 8/29/13RP 119. S.E. arrived at the hotel in a car driven by a man later identified as Mr. Barbee. 8/29/13RP 121. In the room, S.E. agreed to have sex with Det. Johnson, they exchanged money, and S.E. was immediately arrested for prostitution. 8/28/13RP 42, 43, 52, 140-41.

In the meantime, Mr. Barbee waited in his car in a parking lot adjacent to the hotel. 8/26/13RP 107; 8/29/13RP 121-22. Det. Steffes and an officer in a second unmarked patrol car started to approach Mr. Barbee's car, but he drove away. 8/26/13RP 110, 113; 8/29/13RP 126. Within blocks, however, the arrest team stopped and arrested Mr. Barbee for promoting prostitution. 8/26/13RP 119-20, 122; 8/29/13RP 126, 128, 129.

Det. Steffes was assigned as the lead investigator into Mr. Barbee's activities and he searched two storage units rented to Mr. Barbee, in which he found a large quantity of women's clothing and lingerie, expensive men's clothing, books and DVD's pertaining to "pimping," financial records from an account with Watermark Credit Union in Mr. Barbee's name, and a safe that contained cash in the amount \$18,300, mostly in denominations of \$100. 9/3/13RP 15, 63, 67, 118, 120, 121-22, 127, 128; 9/9/13RP 99-100. He also obtained Backpage.com records of advertisements placed in Mr. Barbee's name, and he arranged for forensic examinations of Mr. Barbee's cellular telephones and laptop computers, and S.E.'s cellular telephone. 9/3/13RP 28; 9/9/13RP 21, 64, 65, 67.

The Backpage.com records indicated Mr. Barbee paid for numerous advertisements for escort services. 8/29/13RP 20; Ex. 13, 14, 15, 24, 35, 44-A, 50, 51, 52, 53, 74, 75, 76. The forensic examination of

the cellular telephones revealed contact information for and numerous photographs of S.E., Ms. Klein, and Ms. Waller, and a very large number of communications between Mr. Barbee, S.E., Ms. Klein, and Ms. Waller. 8/28/13RP 77, 91, 95-98, 99-114; Ex. 57, 58, 59, 87-94.

Det. Steffes contacted Vanessa Mullen, a fraud investigator for Watermark Credit Union and learned that a federal treasury check was deposited into Mr. Barbee's account each month. Ex. 132. In April 2009, the credit union started monitoring Mr. Barbee's account because he frequently changed \$10 and \$20 bills into \$100 bills and he had a high volume of debit transactions involving on-line advertising. 9/11/13RP 44-48, 56-57, 64-65; Ex. 130-135.

Det. Steffes also contacted Special Agent Robert Rodriguez with the Inspector General's Office for the Social Security Administration (SSA), an agency that provides Supplemental Security Income (SSI) benefits to persons who are disabled and have no other source of income. 9/11/13RP 77, 80-81. In 2005, Mr. Barbee applied for benefits on the grounds he was disabled and his only source of income was state welfare benefits. 9/11/13RP 98, 100; Ex. 155. Following an SSA-approved medical examination, he was awarded SSI benefits starting November 2005. 9/12/13RP 4-10; Ex. 138, 1'41. When Mr. Barbee received notice of the award, he was instructed to contact the SSA if he had a change in

circumstances, but he never did so. 9/12/13RP 40; Ex. 138. Agent Rodriguez opined that if Mr. Barbee had an undeclared source of income from January 1, 2009 through June 20, 2011, he did not qualify for the \$15,078 in SSI benefits he received during that time. 9/12/13RP 39.

Agent Rodriguez contacted the Department of Social and Health Services (DSHS), which awards food and medical benefits for persons who have qualified for SSI benefits. 9/12/13RP 66-67. In April 2007, Mr. Barbee applied for DSHS benefits and declared his only source of income was the SSI benefit. 9/12/13RP 91092; Ex. 158, 161. He received DSHS food and medical benefits from May 2007 through March 2011. 9/12/13RP 145. Renee Pelletier with the DSHS fraud unit reviewed Mr. Barbee's credit union statements and she concluded he had an undeclared source of income that disqualified him from its benefits he received from January 1, 2009 through December 2010, during which time Mr. Barbee received \$4895 in benefits. 9/16/13RP 28, 34-35, 36-37; Ex. 169, 170.

Mr. Barbee was charged with Count 1, promoting commercial sexual abuse of a minor, S.E., alleged to have occurred from January 1, 2010 through August 31, 2010 (Count 1),<sup>4</sup> promoting commercial sexual abuse of a minor, S.E., alleged to have occurred from September 1, 2010

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> RCW 9.68A.101(1).

through December 31, 2010 (Count 2),<sup>5</sup> promoting prostitution in the first degree of Ms. Klein alleged to have occurred from January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2010 (Count 4), promoting prostitution in the second degree of Ms. Waller alleged to have occurred from May 10, 2010 through August 1, 2010 (Count 5), leading organized crime by promoting prostitution alleged to have occurred from January 1, 2010 through December 310, 2010 (Count 6),8 theft in the first degree form the United States Social Security Administration alleged to have occurred from January 1, 2009 through August 31, 2009 (Count 7), 9 theft in the first degree form the United State Social Security Administration alleged to have occurred from September 1, 2009 through December 31, 2010 (Count 8), 10 and theft in the second degree from the Department of Social and Health Services alleged to have occurred from January 1, 2009 through November 30, 2010 (Count 9). 11 Counts 3 and 10 involved a witness who did not appear and were dismissed. 9/16/13RP 23-24. On Count 1, the Count State further charged the offense involved an on-going pattern of sexual abuse of the same minor victim that manifested in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> RCW 9.68A.101(1).

<sup>6</sup> RCW 9A.88.070(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> RCW 9A.88.080(1)(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> RCW 9A.82.060(1)(a), 9A.82.010(12).

<sup>9</sup> RCW 9A.56.030(1)(a), 9A.56.020(1)(a), 9A.56.010(21)(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> RCW 9A.56.030(1)(a), 9A.56.020(1).

<sup>11</sup> RCW 9A.56.040(1)(a), 9A.56.020(1).

multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time. 12 On all counts, the State charged Mr. Barbee had committed multiple current offenses and his high offender score resulted in some of the current offenses going unpunished.13

The matter proceeded to trial by jury. The trial court denied Mr. Barbee's motion to sever the prostitution-related offenses from the financial crimes. 8/1/13RP 10-16, 27-30. Over defense objection, the trial court admitted statements by S.E., Ms. Klein, and Ms. Waller as statements of co-conspirators to the offense of leading organized crime. 8/1/2013 RP 103-06; 8/15/13RP 97. Also over defense objection, the court admitted the results of the warrantless search of the Sutton Suites motel register. 8/1/13RP 83-87; CP 148-51.

Following a five-week trial, Mr. Barbee was convicted as charged, except on Count 4 he was convicted of the lesser included offense of promoting prostitution in the second degree. CP 307-16. In addition, the jury found Count 1 was part of an on-going pattern of sexual abuse of the same minor involving multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time. CP 308.

At sentencing, on Counts 1 and 2, the court calculated Mr. Barbee's standard range as 240 to 318 months, based on its understanding

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> RCW 9.94A.535(3)(g). <sup>13</sup> RCW 9.94A.535(2)(c).

that Promoting Commercial Sexual Abuse of a Minor was a Class A felony with a seriousness level XII. CP 325. Based on the jury finding of an aggravating circumstance and a judicial finding that some current offenses would go unpunished without an exceptional sentence, the court imposed an exceptional sentence above the standard range on counts 1, 2, and 6, and imposed a standard range on the remaining counts.

#### D. ARGUMENT

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