71164-4

71164-4

NO. 71164-4-1

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

SHACON F. BARBEE,

Appellant.

RECEIVED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION I
JAN 17 2011
11:30 AM

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG
King County Prosecuting Attorney

DENNIS J. McCURDY
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney
W554 King County Courthouse
516 Third Avenue
Seattle, Washington 98104
(206) 296-9000

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

to report it, but he did not. 27RP 40. This affected how much of a benefit he was entitled or if he was entitled to any benefit at all. Thus, each month that the defendant obtained a distinct sum of government money based upon his failure to report his income from his prostitution enterprise was a distinct act of theft and could be individually charged. At the same time, the State had the discretion to aggregate these sums as it did here, charging one count under the old version of the first degree theft statute and one count under the current version of the first degree theft statute. In short, the defendant was properly charged and no double jeopardy violation exists.

3. THE DEFENDANT'S SEVERANCE ARGUMENT IS WITHOUT MERIT AND HAS BEEN WAIVED

The defendant contends that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to grant his motion to sever counts VII, VIII and IX; three counts of first degree theft for fraudulently obtaining benefits from the Department of Social and Health Services and the Social Security Administration. However, in violation of the court rule and case law, the defendant did not renew his motion to sever before or at the close of all the evidence, and therefore, this issue has been waived. In any event, the defendant fails to show that the trial court abused its discretion.

Criminal Rule 4.4 governs the timeliness of motions to sever offenses and waiver. Generally a motion to sever offenses is made as a pretrial motion at the commencement of trial. CrR 4.4(a)(1). If the pretrial motion to sever offenses is denied, the party may renew the motion “on the same ground before or at the close of all the evidence.” CrR 4.4(a)(2). Per the express language of the rule, and the applicable case law, “[s]everance is waived by failure to renew the motion.” CrR 4.4(a)(2); State v. Henderson, 48 Wn. App. 543, 551, 740 P.2d 329 (1987) (failure to renew his motion to sever his bail jumping count from his rape and indecent liberties counts constitutes waiver on appeal); State v. Ben-Neth, 34 Wn. App. 600, 606, 663 P.2d 156 (1983) (failure to renew his severance motion in regards to six counts unlawful issuance of checks constitutes waiver); State v. Bryant, 89 Wn. App. 857, 864, 950 P.2d 1004 (1998) (waiver found where defendant failed to renew his motion to sever his bail jumping offense from his robbery offense), rev. denied, 137 Wn.2d 1017 (1999).

Here, prior to trial, the defendant moved to sever counts VII, VIII and IX, his three counts of theft, from the remaining counts. 8RP 9-26. The trial court denied the defendant’s pretrial motion to sever. 8RP 27-30. The defendant did not renew his severance motion at trial and therefore the issue has been waived. In any event, the motion is without merit.

Separate trials are not favored in Washington. State v. Herd, 14 Wn. App. 959, 963 n.2, 546 P.2d 1222 (1976), rev. denied, 88 Wn.2d 1005 (1977). Thus, a defendant seeking severance of an offense carries the heavy burden of demonstrating that a joint trial would be so manifestly prejudicial as to outweigh the concern for judicial economy. State v. Grisby, 97 Wn.2d 493, 506, 647 P.2d 6 (1982). It is not enough to simply allege prejudice; the burden is on the moving party to present sufficient facts to warrant the exercise of discretion in his or her favor. State v. Melton, 63 Wn. App. 63, 68, 817 P.2d 413 (1991), rev. denied, 118 Wn.2d 1016 (1992).

Factors the court considers in deciding whether severance of offenses is appropriate are (1) the strength of the State's evidence on each count, (2) the clarity of the defense as to each count, (3) whether the court properly instructs the jury to separately consider the evidence on each count, and (4) the admissibility of the evidence of the other crimes, even if the counts had been tried separately or never charged or joined (commonly referred to as the cross-admissibility of the evidence). State v. Kinsey, 7 Wn. App. 773, 776, 502 P.2d 470 (1972), rev. denied, 82 Wn.2d 1002 (1973). The absence of one particular factor does not mean that offenses must be severed. For example, "even if evidence of separate counts would not be cross-admissible, severance is not necessarily required." State v.

Sanders, 66 Wn. App. 878, 885, 833 P.2d 452 (1992), rev. denied, 120 Wn.2d 1027 (1993).

Generally, a defendant can be prejudiced by joinder of offenses in one of three ways: (1) the defendant may be embarrassed or confounded in presenting separate defenses, (2) the jury may use the evidence of one of the crimes charged to infer a criminal disposition on the part of the defendant from which is found his guilt of the other crime or crimes charged; or (3) the jury may cumulate the evidence of the various crimes charged and find guilt when, if considered separately, it would not so find. State v. Bythrow, 114 Wn.2d 713, 718, 790 P.2d 154 (1990).

A severance decision is left to the sound discretion of the trial court. Bythrow, 114 Wn.2d at 717, 790 P.2d 154 (1990). Thus, to prevail on appeal, a defendant must prove that “no reasonable person would have decided the issue as the trial court did.” State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 78, 882 P.2d 747 (1994).

Here, there was no alibi defense, mental defense, or “some other guy did it” defense. Rather, the defense to all counts was general denial. The trial court instructed the jurors that a separate crime was charged in each count and that each of them must decide each count separately. CP 264. “Your verdict on one count,” the court instructed “should not control your verdict on any other count.” CP 264. Further, the evidence

on the prostitution related charges was equally as strong as the evidence on the theft related charges – in each case the State presented a number of witnesses with direct evidence of the defendant’s guilt, as well as financial documents that supported the witnesses’ testimony. Importantly as well, the evidence of the prostitution enterprise run by the defendant was highly relevant admissible evidence necessary to show that he was defrauding the government in obtaining social security benefits.

The three girls testified that they worked directly for the defendant and that the entirety of all the money they earned each month was given directly to the defendant. They testified that the defendant possessed a Mercedes Benz and that he took as his own BK’s Toyota Avalon. 16RP 159-60. In addition, there was testimony that the defendant possessed two storage units, one full of women’s clothing and lingerie he provided to the girls who worked for him. 16RP 138; 17RP 46; 18RP 130. Inside one of the storage units was a safe with \$18,300 in cash and a ledger that started at \$40,000. 21RP 127-28.

The defendant seems to acknowledge that the evidence of the defendant’s prostitution enterprise was relevant and admissible evidence in proving the theft charges. Def. br. at 36. However, he asserts that the evidence was not “necessary,” that the State could prove the case against the defendant using other evidence. Specifically, he asserts that the State

only needed to provide the defendant's telephone records to show he was not disabled, and his bank account records to show he had additional income. Id. The defendant's argument fails to two reasons. First, the defendant cites no case law that supports an argument that as part of the test for severance a trial court must prohibit the State from admitting highly relevant evidence simply because a defendant claims the State could prove its case with other evidence – presumably evidence chosen by the defendant. Second, simply showing that the defendant had deposits into his bank account, or that he exchanged bills for different denominations, does not show he defrauded the government. It does not show the ownership of the money, the source of the money, nor the actual time of when the money was received (as opposed to when it was deposited). In short, the defendant cannot prove that no reasonable judge would have ruled as the trial court did here in denying his motion to sever counts.

In any event, the defendant cannot prove prejudice. In order to support a finding that the trial court abused its discretion in denying severance, the defendant must be able to point to specific prejudice.

Bythrow, 114 Wn.2d at 720 (citing Grisby, 97 Wn.2d at 507).

A defendant seeking severance “must not only establish that prejudicial effects of joinder have been produced, but they must also demonstrate that

a joint trial would be so prejudicial as to outweigh concern for judicial economy.” State v. Kalakosky, 121 Wn.2d 525, 539, 852 P.2d 1064 (1993). He must prove that if he were tried separately, there was a reasonable probability he would have been acquitted. In re Davis, 152 Wn.2d 647, 711, 101 P.3d 1 (2004); State v. Watkins, 53 Wn. App. 264, 273, 766 P.2d 484 (1989). The defendant cannot meet that burden here.

4. POLICE PROPERLY OBTAINED ROOM RENTAL INFORMATION FROM THE SUTTON SUITES MOTEL

The defendant contends that the warrantless obtaining of guest rental information from the management of the Sutton Suites Motel, done after the two girls inside the room were arrested for prostitution, was unlawful.²⁴ The defendant is incorrect. The facts of this case fit squarely within the exception to the warrant requirement as articulated in In re Nichols, 171 Wn.2d 370, 256 P.3d 1131 (2011). The defendant has not shown that Nichols is incorrect and harmful, the standard that must be met to overrule precedent. And in any event, any error was clearly harmless.

²⁴ The defendant asserts that the police searched the motel registry. Def. br. at 42-43. It is not clear from the record that the police actually viewed the registry. What is clear is that the police received information, either from the registry directly or from motel management, that the defendant rented the room. The difference is of no moment. Consent to a search establishes the validity of that search only if the person giving consent has the authority to so consent. State v. Mathe, 102 Wn.2d 537, 540-41, 688 P.2d 859 (1984) (finding a landlord did not have authority to consent to the search of his tenant’s residence). The State will assume for purposes of argument that the motel management did not have authority to consent to release room rental information.

Prior to trial the defendant moved to suppress the fact that the police, without a search warrant, obtained information from the management of the Sutton Suites Motel that he had rented the room in which SE and BK had just been arrested for prostitution activities. The defense put on no evidence to support his motion, and there were no disputed facts. As a factual basis for the motion, the trial court relied on the police reports and affidavit for a search warrant that were attached to the State's briefs. See 8RP 59; CP 124-39.

The trial court denied the defense motion. In short, the trial court found that after the officers had lawfully entered the motel room and discovered that there were two females, one a minor, engaging in acts of prostitution and promoting prostitution in the room; that the case fell directly within the scope of Nichols. The court ruled that the officers had individualized suspicion prostitution activities or promoting prostitution activities were occurring in the room and thus the police could lawfully obtain information from the motel management without a warrant. CP 148-51; 8RP 79-87.

In State v. Jorden, 160 Wn.2d 121, 156 P.3d 893 (2007), the Supreme Court ruled that the police practice of routinely perusing motel registries without a warrant, in the hopes of finding evidence of criminals with warrants, was a "fishing expedition" and was unlawful. In Jorden,

the Pierce County Sheriff's Department engaged in a practice of having officers review motel guest registries on a random basis. The officers would then conduct random criminal checks on the names found in the registries. The program was designed to curtail criminal activity in high crime areas. In ruling the program was illegal, the Court first held that individuals possess a limited right to privacy in motel registrations under article I, section 7 of the Washington State Constitution. Id.²⁵ Second, the Court held that because the searches were completely random, with no individualized suspicion of criminal activity, the random searches violated the limited right to privacy that guests have in a motel registry.

In Nichols, the Court reiterated that motel registries are protected as a private affair to only a "limited extent." Nichols, 171 Wn.2d at 377. The Court held that if the police possess individualized suspicion that criminal activity has taken place in a motel room, the police may examine the motel registry without a warrant to determine who the registered guest is. Id. at 376-78.²⁶ This, the Court said, was consistent with prior rulings

²⁵ This was a contested issue in Nichols because there is no such recognized right under the Fourth Amendment. See United States v. Cormier, 220 F.3d 1103, 1108 (9th Cir. 2000), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 1174 (2001).

²⁶ In Nichols, a CI sought to purchase drugs from a person named Ativalu. Ativalu said he was out of drugs and needed to resupply. The two then drove to a motel whereupon Ativalu went inside a particular room and emerged with cocaine. The CI then informed the police of his observations. The police then went to the front desk and found out that Nichols was the registered guest. The police then ran a criminal records check, found that Nichols' license was suspended, and shortly thereafter, when Nichols was seen

of the Court wherein the Court required individualized suspicion before roadside sobriety checkpoints or school district drug testing programs would be deemed lawful. Id. at 377 (citing Seattle v. Mesiani, 110 Wn.2d 454, 755 P.2d 775 (1988) and York v. Wahkiakum School District No. 200, 163 Wn.2d 297, 178 P.3d 995 (2008)).

The defendant does not dispute the court's finding of facts, and those facts fit squarely within the scope of Nichols. Instead, the defendant asks this court to apply Jorden, instead of Nichols, but he fails to show that the ruling in Nichols is "incorrect and harmful," the requirement before precedent can be overturned. In re Stranger Creek, 77 Wn.2d 649, 466 P.2d 508 (1970). In any event, any error in the trial court's ruling was clearly harmless.

The admission of evidence at trial, obtained pursuant to an invalid search, is an error of constitutional magnitude and therefore it is presumed prejudicial. State v. McReynolds, 117 Wn. App. 309, 326, 71 P.3d 663 (2003). Still, reversal is not required if the error is found to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. An error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if untainted evidence admitted at trial shows that any

driving in his car, he was pulled over and drugs were discovered in his vehicle. The Supreme Court ruled that because the police had individualized suspicion that drug activity had taken place in the motel room, the warrantless examination of the motel registry was lawful. Id.

reasonable jury would have reached the same result without the error.

State v. Brown, 147 Wn.2d 330, 341, 58 P.3d 889 (2002).

Here, along with the plethora of evidence supporting the charges against the defendant as outlined in the facts section above, there was also a plethora of evidence about this specific fact objected to here, that the defendant rented the room in which SE and BK were arrested.

BK testified she met the defendant in the motel room with SE.

16RP 113. He came into the motel room and explained that she would be engaged in prostitution and that all the money would go to him.

16RP 114. Except when the girls would walk the strip at the defendant's bidding, or he would pick them up at the motel room for outcalls, all the prostitution activity happened out of the room. 16RP 125-27; 17RP 36-37. When SE and BK were arrested in the room, evidence showed many of the items, including a computer, belonged to the defendant. 16RP 145, 152, 154. Further, BK specifically testified that the defendant paid for the room. 17RP 19. SE also specifically testified that it was the defendant who would rent the rooms she worked out of.

18RP 27. This included the room she was staying in with BK when the police arrested the two girls. 18RP 32-33. Thus, not only was the overall evidence of guilt overwhelming, but there was substantial evidence outside of the motel registry that the defendant rented the room and was in

control of what went on in the room. Thus, any error in the trial court's ruling was harmless.

5. OUT-OF-COURT STATEMENTS OF SE, CW AND BK WERE PROPERLY ADMITTED AS COCONSPIRATOR STATEMENTS

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